2016

Fire Insurance Exchange, Plaintiff and Appellee, v. Robert Allen Otmanns, Defendant and Appellant.

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction under UTAH CODE ANN. § 78A-3-102(3)(A).

ISSUES

1. Was the coverage question “fairly debatable” as a matter of law? This issue was presented and fairly included in the first question presented for review in the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

Standard of Review: “On certiorari, we review the court of appeals’ decision for correctness.”¹ “The correctness of the court of appeals’ decision turns on whether that court correctly reviewed the trial court’s decision under the appropriate standard of review.”² “Summary judgment is appropriate when there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law....Whether an insured’s claim is fairly debatable under a given set of facts is also a question of law. However,...the fairly-debatable defense should not be resolved through summary judgment if reasonable minds could differ as to whether the defendant’s conduct measures up to the standard

1 *Utah v. Garner*, 2005 UT 6, ¶ 7, 106 P.3d 729 (internal quotations omitted).

2 *State v. Dean*, 2004 UT 63, ¶ 7, 95 P.3d 276 (citing *Newspaper Agency Corp. v. Auditing Div.*, 938 P.2d 266, 267 (Utah 1997)).

required for insurance claim investigations....Furthermore, summary judgment should be granted only when it clearly appears that there is no reasonable probability that the party moved against could prevail.”³

2. Were there genuine issues regarding the reasonableness of the insurer’s conduct in this case? This issue was presented and fairly included in the second question presented for review in the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

Standard of Review: “We begin with the well-recognized statement that in a summary judgment proceeding, all facts and the reasonable inferences to be made therefrom should be construed in a light favorable to the non-moving party. In some cases, the parties may agree on the objective statement of the facts, but may fundamentally disagree on the reasonable inferences to be made from those facts....Even if the moving party’s objective statement of the facts [is] agreed upon, reasonable inferences made from those undisputed facts can indeed create a genuine issue of material fact.”⁴

³ *Jones v. Farmers Ins. Exchange*, 2012 UT 52, ¶¶ 1, 6, 8, 286 P.3d 301 (internal quotations, citations omitted).

⁴ *USA Power, LLC v. PacifiCorp*, 2010 UT 31, ¶ 33, 235 P.3d 749 (citation omitted).

3. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying Oltmanns Rule 56(f) relief? This issue was fairly included in the second question presented for review in the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

Standard of Review: “We review the denial of a rule 56(f) motion for an abuse of discretion. We will not reverse the district court’s decision to grant or deny a rule 56(f) motion for discovery unless it exceeds the limits of reasonability.”⁵

DETERMINATIVE RULES

UTAH R. CIV. PROC. 56(C), (E)-(F) (Addendum 1 hereto).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. **Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition in the Courts Below.**

1. Declaratory Judgment Action

Brady Blackner was seriously injured while being towed by a Honda AquaTrax that was operated by his cousin-in-law, Robert Allen Oltmanns. (R. 2, ¶4). Blackner filed action for personal injuries against Oltmanns, and others, in

5 *Overstock.com, Inc. v. SmartBargains, Inc.*, 2008 UT 55, ¶ 20, 192 P.3d 858 (internal quotation, citations omitted).

Farmington District Court. (R. 2, ¶5). At the time, Oltmanns and his wife were insured by Fire Insurance Exchange under a policy of homeowner's insurance. (R. 2, ¶6). Oltmanns tendered defense of the action to Fire Insurance. (R. 2, ¶7).

Fire Insurance did not accept the tender. Instead, it filed this action for declaratory judgment taking the position that there was no coverage. (R. 3, ¶10). In the meantime, Fire Insurance asked counsel to continue representing Oltmanns at his own expense. (R. 558).

Before discovery was taken, Fire Insurance moved for summary judgment. (R. 29). The motion was filed on the basis of the following exclusion:

We do not cover **bodily injury**,...which

....

7. results from the ownership, maintenance, use, loading or unloading of:...
- c. jet skis and jet sleds⁶ or
- d. any other watercraft owned or rented to an **insured** and which: (1) has more than 50 horsepower inboard or inboard-outdrive motor power;.... (RR. 598-99) (emphasis in original).

6 No one argued that the Honda AquaTrax was a "jet sled." *Fire Ins. Exchange v. Oltmanns*, 2012 UT App 230, ¶ 10 n.3, 285 P.3d 802.

There was no disputing that the Honda AquaTrax was a sit-down version of a personal watercraft with an inboard "135-horsepower...engine." (RR. 44-45). However, it was neither owned by, nor rented to, Oltmanns. (R. 6, ¶4). Therefore, Subparagraph (d) was inapplicable. Rather, Fire Insurance contended that the AquaTrax was a "jet ski," and subject to the exclusion in Subparagraph (c).

Fire Insurance claimed that Subparagraph (c) applied to "any jet ski." (R. 32). Specifically, it contended that Jet Ski had become "a genericized term for any type of personal watercraft." (R. 34, ¶9). The insurer found support for this in Wikipedia. (R. 57). However, the same entry also noted that "Jet Ski is the brand name of personal watercraft (PWC) manufactured by Kawasaki Heavy Industries." (emphasis in original). This was not all: "Jet Ski...can also refer to versions of PWCs with pivoting handlepoles known as 'stand-ups.'"

Fire Insurance's Wikipedia authority stressed this latter definition: "'Jet Ski' became foremost the colloquial term for stand-up personal watercraft, because in 1973 Kawasaki was responsible for a limited production of stand-up models..." (R. 57) (emphasis added). This was followed by a table showing that the Jet Ski trademark was generic for "Stand-up personal watercraft." (R. 62).

Fire Insurance settled on the one – and only – definition that supported its claim and contended that the policy “clearly and unambiguously excludes coverage for any jet ski, and not just the ‘Jet Ski®’ brand....” (R. 32). It dismissed Subparagraph (d), which had application to all makes and models of watercraft, with the argument that it did not contain the word “personal.” (R. 178). Summary judgment was granted on these bases. (R. 181).

Oltmanns and Blackner appealed (Case No. 20100462-CA). The appeal was decided on August 16, 2012. *Fire Ins. Exchange v. Oltmanns*, 2012 UT App 230, 285 P.3d 802. The court ruled that Subparagraph 7(c) was “ambiguous as a matter of law.” *Id.*, at ¶ 10. Based on Wikipedia, “at least one additional interpretation [of jet ski] is entirely possible.” *Id.*, at ¶ 9. “Did [the insurer] mean all manner of personal watercraft? Or did it mean only the stand-up variety?” *Id.*, at ¶ 10.

“Because the exclusionary provision is ambiguous, it must be construed against the drafter, and thus the language relied on by the insurance company is not effective to exclude coverage for an insured’s accident resulting from use of an AquaTrax personal watercraft of the sit-down variety.” *Id.*, at ¶ 11. The

judgment of the district court was reversed and the case “remanded for trial or such other proceedings as may now be in order.” Id.

Fire Insurance proceeded to settle the *Blackner* case. (R. 228, ¶14). It, also, reimbursed Oltmanns for his fees defending the *Blackner* case. (Id., at ¶15). However, Fire Insurance “refused, despite demand, to pay Defendant Oltmanns for his attorney’s fees prosecuting this coverage action and the successful appeal.” (Id., at ¶16).

2. Counterclaim for Breach of the Implied Covenant

On January 9, 2013, Oltmanns filed a Counterclaim for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. (R. 226). Specifically, he alleged that Fire Insurance “did not fairly evaluate the [*Blackner*] claim, and unreasonably rejected it,....” (R. 228, ¶21).⁷ The claim was for “attorney’s fees for prosecuting this coverage action and the successful appeal.” (Id., at ¶22).

On January 24, 2013, Oltmanns filed a First Amended Counterclaim (R. 244) adding a claim for breach of the insurance contract. (R. 246). Leave to file the First

⁷ See *Beck v. Farmers Ins. Exchange*, 701 P.2d 795, 801 (Utah 1985).

Amended Counterclaim was granted. (R. 309). Fire Insurance's response was a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (R. 352), which was denied. (R. 398).

As part of the Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (R. 398), Oltmanns was required to make a more definite statement of his counterclaim, which he did in the Second Amended Counterclaim filed on September 30, 2013. (R. 403). The parties proceeded to discovery, which included interrogatories and requests for production of documents. (RR. 458, 464, 484).

On May 30, 2014, Fire Insurance moved, a second time, for summary judgment. (R. 494). The motion was based, in principal part, on the Affidavit of Shawn L. Stephens (R. 537), Litigation Claims Specialist for Fire Insurance. (*Id.*, at ¶2). Stephens is the one who investigated the *Blackner* claim. (R. 538, ¶3).⁸

Stephens secured the basic pleadings in the *Blackner* case, a copy of the Rental Agreement, and Oltmanns' deposition. (RR. 538-39, ¶9). After meeting

⁸ Stephens originally characterized his investigation as "thorough." (R. 538, ¶8). Objection was made that this was "conclusory" since there was nothing to indicate what was a "thorough" coverage investigation. (RR. 665-66, ¶18). Accordingly, the characterization was withdrawn. (R. 867, ¶18) (Addendum 3 hereto). However, the characterization continued to appear in Fire Insurance's pleadings. (R. 738).

with his supervisors, the decision was made “to send this matter to outside counsel for a coverage opinion.” (R. 539, ¶11). Other than a request for the vehicle registration (R. 558), which was never received, this was the sum total of the factual investigation.

The coverage letter (R. 560) (Addendum 5 hereto) was simply filed with the exhibits to the Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 518). There was nothing authenticating the physical exhibit. Stephens was the source for the factual statement in the Memorandum in Support (R. 503, ¶23), but all he said was: “I received the coverage opinion....” (R. 540, ¶14) (emphasis added).

To be clear, an affidavit of coverage counsel was not included. As a result, Stephens is the one who published the contents of the letter: “Based on his research regarding the term ‘jet-ski,’ [counsel] believed that we had a 75% chance in prevailing in a declaratory relief action.” (R. 540, ¶14).

However, Oltmanns did not object on the basis of authentication: “The statement [¶23, Statement of Undisputed Facts] is inadmissible, and conclusory, hearsay. It is based on the Affidavit of Shawn L. Stephens. (Exhibit D). However,

he was not the author of counsel's letter (Exhibit K), and there is no affidavit from counsel. As a result, there is no support for the statement, other than counsel's letter,...." (R. 666, ¶23) (emphasis added).

In its Reply Memorandum, Fire Insurance confused the authentication requirements with the hearsay rule: "The statement is based off of Shawn Stephens understanding of the coverage opinion....Thus, the statement is not hearsay as it is based on the first hand knowledge and understanding of Shawn Stephens." (R. 732, ¶23).

At the summary judgment hearing, Fire Insurance changed tack and argued that the letter was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted. UTAH R. EVID. 801(C)(2). This was the basis for the trial court's ruling:

[T]his Court finds that statement ["Fire Insurance had a 75% chance in prevailing in a declaratory relief action"] is based upon the understanding of Shawn Stephens for Fire Insurance, as set forth in his affidavit. The Court concludes that the statement of fact is not hearsay because receiving the coverage opinion from coverage counsel,...was part of the process of investigating the facts of the accident and fairly evaluating the claim.

R. 868, ¶23 (Addendum 3 hereto).

As a result, Fire Insurance certified the reasonableness of its own conduct. It is not hard to see why this ruling was made, particularly, when Fire Insurance argued before the trial court that “the conduct and analysis of coverage counsel...is not at issue.” (R. 737, ¶2) (emphasis added).

According to Fire Insurance, the quality of the coverage opinion did not matter. It was enough that Fire Insurance had a coverage opinion justifying the filing of an action for declaratory judgment. And yet, Fire Insurance continued to assert the “75% chance of prevailing in a declaratory relief action” (R. 567). At the same time denying that the basis for the opinion was relevant.

Fire Insurance’s Motion for Summary Judgment was granted on September 24, 2014. The Order Granting Summary Judgment was entered on October 10, 2014. (R. 863) (Addendum 3 hereto). Appeal was filed on October 20, 2014. (R. 876) (Appellate Case No. 20140984-CA).

The order was affirmed on appeal. *Fire Ins. Exchange v. Oltmanns*, 2016 UT App 54, ¶ 16, 370 P.3d 566 (Addendum 2 hereto). This judgment is the subject of the present appeal.

B. Statement of Facts

Very few facts were relevant to the coverage decision. Therefore, most of the Statement of Undisputed Facts (R. 499) was immaterial. Oltmanns controverted those few statements he deemed material. For example, ¶18: "Fire Insurance began a thorough coverage investigation and evaluation regarding the accident in July of 2006 that involved Oltmanns." (R. 502).

As noted above (pg. 8 n.8), Oltmanns argued this was "nothing but a conclusion that is unsupported by the facts." (R. 665, ¶18). There was nothing to indicate what would be a "thorough coverage investigation." Accordingly, Fire Insurance withdrew the characterization, and this was accepted by the trial court. (R. 867, ¶18) (Addendum 3 hereto).⁹

Fire Insurance was content to leave the matter as follows: "Fire Insurance conducted an investigation and followed the necessary steps required by Fire Insurance Exchange." (R. 731, ¶18). This, of course, was entirely different. There was no disputing that Fire Insurance conducted some kind of investigation.

⁹ Though, as we stated above (pg. 8 n.8), it continued to appear in the pleadings. (R. 738).

Even so, Fire Insurance felt the need to re-characterize the testimony of its witness (Shawn Stephens):

- When a claim is made under a policy of insurance issued by Fire Insurance Exchange, we conduct an investigation.
- As part of this investigation, the initial step is to ensure the applicable insurance policy was in effect at the time the loss occurred.
- Thereafter, we review the insuring agreement and the definitions contained in the insurance policy.
- A review of the exclusions and conditions and their relation to the loss is then done to determine if the loss is a covered occurrence and to determine if the person seeking coverage qualifies as an insured.
- If we have a coverage question regarding the language of an insuring agreement, we often refer the matter to outside counsel to provide a coverage opinion. We rely on outside counsel to assist in making a coverage determination.
- Fire Insurance Exchange followed this process when we conducted an investigation relating to the accident that occurred that is the subject of this matter.

RR. 730-31, ¶18.

Most of this was not at issue. For example, there was no question that Fire Insurance relied, principally (if not exclusively) on the opinion of outside counsel.

In fact, what appears to have been most significant was counsel's statement of "a 75% chance in prevailing in a declaratory relief action." (R. 540, ¶14).

However, there was one glaring omission. In the "Analysis of Coverage," there was no mention of "defense." There was never any explanation for Fire Insurance's failure to assume the defense of the *Blackner* action even though the tender was plainly acknowledged. (R. 561) (Addendum 5 hereto).

Counsel, also, acknowledged: "Under Utah law, a liability insurance carrier's duty to defend is broader than its duty to indemnify." (R. 565). However, counsel merely recommended the filing of a declaratory judgment action. (R. 567) (Addendum 5 hereto): "It would be dangerous to simply deny coverage because Mr. Blackner and Mr. Oltmanns may enter into an agreement to stipulate to a large judgment and Mr. Oltmanns could then assign his claims against Fire Insurance [E]xchange to Mr. Blackner." (Id.)

However, counsel never advised against assuming the defense of the *Blackner* action. Fire Insurance made this decision, entirely, on its own. Fire Insurance has argued – repeatedly – that it did not reject the tender. However, it

never assumed the defense; not, at least, until after ruling by the Court of Appeals. For this, Fire Insurance got no protection from the coverage opinion.

Fire Insurance, basically, acknowledged this: "[T]he coverage opinion is relevant only to the issue of Fire Insurance's decision to file a declaratory judgment action, not its ultimate success or failure." (RR. 739-40) (emphasis added). Evidently, Fire Insurance did not consider that it could file for declaratory judgment and provide a defense for Oltmanns – at the same time.

There was more to Oltmann's objection (R. 666): "Further, there is evidence that Plaintiff's investigation was less than 'thorough.' See Statement of Additional Facts, ¶1." Statement of Additional Facts No. 1 was as follows:

Before sending the claim for a coverage evaluation, [Fire Insurance] determined that it needed "a copy of the vehicle title and registration at the time of the accident to determine how the jetski [sic] is classified." [Fire Insurance] wanted to know if the vehicle were classified as a "watercraft." [Fire Insurance] thought this may "affect coverage as per the terms of the insured's policy." [Fire Insurance] conceded: "This information is needed before sending out for coverage opinion [sic]." However, the vehicle title and registration were not secured. Fire Insurance Exchange's Answer to Interrogatory No. 1 (Exhibit 1 hereto). It is clear that Utah titles and registers "personal watercraft." Utah Code Ann. § 73-18-2(16); Vessel Application for Utah Title (TC-656V).

RR. 667-68, ¶1.

As previously noted (pg. 9), this is what remained of Fire Insurance's investigation, which it never completed:

Fire Insurance Exchange did not need said information prior to sending the matter out for a coverage opinion....It was determined that the identified information would be helpful, but it was not felt to be critical. If coverage counsel felt the information was essential for a coverage opinion, additional efforts to obtain said information would have been made.

R. 735.

Even though Fire Insurance admitted that the vehicle registration may "affect coverage as per the terms of the insured's policy," and the information was "needed before sending out for coverage opinion," the trial court deemed it to be of no significance. Therefore, ¶18 was declared to be "undisputed." (R. 867, ¶18) (Addendum 3 hereto).

Oltmanns, also, controverted ¶23: "Based on [counsel's] research regarding the term 'jet-ski,' [he] believed that Fire Insurance had a 75% chance in prevailing in a declaratory relief action." (R. 666, ¶23). As noted above (pg. 9), Oltmanns objected that the statement was inadmissible hearsay: "It is based on the Affidavit of Shawn L. Stephens. (Exhibit D). However, he was not the author of counsel's

letter (Exhibit K), and there is no affidavit from counsel. As a result, there is no support for the statement, other than counsel's letter,...." (Id.)

Fire Insurance's response showed a fundamental misunderstanding of the hearsay rule: "The statement is based off of Shawn Stephens understanding of the coverage opinion sent to him....Thus, the statement is not hearsay as it is based on the first hand knowledge and understanding of Shawn Stephens." (R. 732, ¶23).

We have seen how Fire Insurance avoided objection with this argument:

Fire Insurance responded that the statement was not offered for "the truth of the matter asserted." UTAH R. EVID. 801(C)(2). However, this Court finds that statement is based upon the understanding of Shawn Stephens for Fire Insurance, as set forth in his affidavit. The Court concludes that the statement of fact is not hearsay because receiving the coverage opinion from coverage counsel,...was part of the process of investigating the facts of the accident and fairly evaluating the claim. Thus, Oltmanns' response creates no genuine issue of material fact. As a result, this Court concludes that this statement of fact is undisputed.

R. 868, ¶23 (Addendum 3 hereto).

It is not hard to see why the trial court made this decision; particularly, when Fire Insurance argued that "the conduct and analysis of coverage counsel...is not at issue." (R. 737, ¶2).

However, as before, there was more to the response:

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