2016

**Fire Insurance Exchange, Respondent, vs. Robert Allen Oltmanns,  
Petitioner.**

Utah Supreme Court

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

*Dalrymple v. United Services Auto. Assn.*, 40 Cal. App. 4th 497, 515, 46 Cal. Rptr. 2d 845, 854 (1995), *as modified* (Dec. 13, 1995) (internal citations omitted). Therefore, as in malicious prosecution cases, this Court should conclude that Fire Insurance's good faith reliance on coverage counsel's advice is a defense to Oltmanns' claim of bad faith, especially when the interpretation of the language of the insurance contract is fairly debatable.

It is undisputed that Fire Insurance relied on coverage counsel to assist in making a coverage determination regarding the language of the insuring agreement. Fire Insurance thereafter followed the advice of counsel by filing a declaratory judgment action, rather than simply denying Oltmanns' claim. Oltmanns essentially reargues his memorandum in opposition to Fire Insurance's Motion for Summary Judgment regarding the coverage issue which was filed in early 2010. R. 152-59. This is the same argument that was heard by the trial court in 2010 and then by the Court of Appeals. *See Id.* Oltmanns acknowledges that coverage counsel was qualified to render the coverage opinion. *See* Petitioner's Brief at 37. In addition, a review of the coverage opinion shows that the analysis was thorough. Even the Court of Appeals recognized coverage counsel's analysis was "quite a thorough coverage opinion." *Oltmanns*, 2016 UT App. 54, ¶ 4. It must be noted, again, that the trial court in the declaratory judgment action did grant summary judgment for Fire Insurance on the coverage issue declaring that the "jet skis" exclusion applied to Oltmanns' accident and was not covered by the policy. This cannot be ignored and pushed aside because the trial court is the fact finder in this matter as no demand for a

jury was made by either party and no jury fee was paid to the court. Moreover, coverage counsel's opinion was not misplaced in stating, "Unless the language of an insurance contract is ambiguous or unclear, the court must construe it according to its plain and ordinary meaning." R. 565. Even Oltmanns, in September 2006 after his accident, thought his homeowners policy did not cover the accident due to the "jet skis" exclusion. This is why he declined Sherrie Eichmeier's offer to assist him in making a claim on his homeowners policy. Oltmanns believed he was operating a jet ski at the time the accident occurred. R. 564. Thus, Fire Insurance's reliance on coverage counsel was reasonable. There is no reasonable probability that Oltmanns can prevail in this matter as the trial court is the finder of fact in this case. Furthermore, Fire Insurance, heeding the advice of coverage counsel, acted in good faith in filing the declaratory judgment action on a fairly debatable claim.

**C. The Coverage Letter Was Offered To Show Fire Insurance Acted In Good Faith.**

Oltmanns objected to the coverage opinion in the trial court contending that the coverage opinion was inadmissible hearsay. "Hearsay is an out-of-court statement offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted in the statement." *State v. McNeil*, 2013 UT App 134, ¶ 44, 302 P.3d 844; *see also* Utah R. Evid. 801(c). "Hearsay is generally inadmissible because the witness 'is acting as a conduit to relay' the personal knowledge or observations of others." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Sibert*, 6 Utah 2d 198, 310 P.2d 388, 390 (1957)). However, Fire Insurance did not offer the coverage opinion to prove the truth of the matter asserted in the coverage opinion. Rather, Fire Insurance offered the coverage



opinion to show its effect on the hearer. *See Mangrum & Benson on Utah Evidence* 684 (2012) (stating “statements may be relevant to the issues of any particular case because of their effect on the hearer.”). In other words, Fire Insurance offered the coverage opinion to show that Fire Insurance reasonably relied on the coverage opinion and authorized the filing of the declaratory judgment action in good faith.

In *State v. Sorensen*, 617 P.2d 333 (Utah 1980), a theft by deception case, a promoter made an out-of-court statement to a financier “that financing was available.” *Id.* at 337. The trial court excluded the statements as inadmissible hearsay. *Id.* The Utah Supreme Court concluded that “[w]hen an out-of-court statement is offered simply to prove that it was made, without regard to whether it is true, such testimony is not proscribed by the hearsay rule.” *Id.* This Court continued stating, “Evidence of a statement by a third person is . . . admissible, irrespective of the fact that it was made out of court, if it is offered to support a *defense of good faith*.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

In *Barton v. Barton*, 2001 UT App. 199, 29 P.3d 13, a mother failed to attend an order to show cause hearing. *Id.* at ¶ 3. The trial court held her in contempt. *Id.* At the contempt hearing, the trial court excluded as hearsay the testimony of the mother that her out of state attorney told her that she did not need to attend the order to show cause hearing. *Id.* at ¶ 16. The mother appealed the trial court’s ruling. *Id.* The Utah Court of Appeals reversed concluding that the “Mother sought to introduce her conversation with her California counsel as proof of a *good faith* reason for not attending the hearing.” *Id.* (emphasis added). Such testimony “was admissible to show a *good faith defense*.” *Id.*

(emphasis added). Both of these cases show the effect the out of court statements had on the hearer.

Just as in *Sorenson* and *Barton*, Fire Insurance introduced coverage counsel's opinion to show that Fire Insurance reasonably relied on the opinion and thereafter acted in good faith in filing a declaratory judgment action on the advice of counsel. The coverage opinion indicated that a general search of court cases found that many courts referred to various brands of personal watercrafts as jet skis. The coverage opinion also indicated that Wikipedia and Google showed that the term "jet ski" was often used as a generic term for all personal watercraft. Based on the research regarding the term "jet skis," coverage counsel believed that Fire Insurance had a 75% chance of prevailing in a declaratory judgment action. As a result, Fire Insurance authorized the filing of the declaratory relief action.

Fire Insurance's good faith belief that a declaratory judgment action would be successful is not unfounded. In fact, the trial court initially granted summary judgment for Fire Insurance based on the same analysis and argument contained in the coverage opinion. This cannot be ignored as the Court of Appeals stated, "we find it very persuasive that the district court initially accepted Fire Insurance's theory and argument in this case, i.e., in the first round of judicial consideration, not only was there a debate, but Fire Insurance actually won the debate. *Fire Ins. Exch. v. Oltmanns*, 2016 UT App 54, ¶ 13, 370 P.3d 566. Thus, Fire Insurance reasonably relied on the coverage opinion from counsel in filing its declaratory judgment action. "Submitting the issue to a court for

interpretation in declaratory judgment action is a prudent, reasonable step toward the resolution of a legitimate dispute over a coverage term or exclusion.” *Id.* ¶ 15. Such action falls far short of bad faith. To conclude otherwise would be akin to concluding the insurer in *Callioux* committed bad faith by relying on a court’s finding of probable cause that a fire was intentionally set by the insured in denying the insured’s claim. Likewise, to conclude that Fire Insurance committed bad faith by reasonably relying on coverage counsel’s opinion and advice in filing a declaratory judgment action would be akin to concluding the insurer in *Prince* committed bad faith by relying on an expert opinion of a doctor to deny an insurance claim. Such a conclusion would essentially abrogate the fairly debatable doctrine. Therefore, the trial court’s conclusion and the Court of Appeals affirmation that Oltmanns’ claim was fairly debatable as a matter of law was proper. As a result, Oltmanns’ claim for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing fails as a matter of law and this Court should affirm.

## **II. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY REJECTED THE RULE 56(f) DECLARATION OF OLTMANNS’ COUNSEL.**

The Court of Appeals declined to consider this issue, concluding that the term “jet ski” as used in Oltmanns’ insurance policy presented a “fairly debatable” interpretation as a matter of law. Likewise, this Court should decline to consider this issue as there truly was a “fairly debatable” issue regarding the interpretation of the “jet skis” term in the insurance policy. *Fire Ins. Exch. v. Oltmanns*, 2016 UT App 54, ¶ 16 n.4, 370 P.3d 566.

However, in the event the issue is considered, the district court properly rejected opposing counsel’s Utah R. Civ. Proc. 56(f) declaration. The declaration was filed after

discovery ended and even after the parties extended discovery. The declaration presented no facts. Rather the declaration only set forth the opinions of opposing counsel. Such opinions are not admissible evidence.

Affidavits opposing a motion for summary judgment must “be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein.” Utah R. Civ. P. 56(e). “These requirements mirror those that apply to all evidence, and our case law on excluding affidavit evidence supports this.” *In re Gen. Determination of Rights to Use of All Water v. Springville Mun. Corp.*, 1999 UT 39, ¶ 26, 982 P.2d 65. Thus, trial courts have a “broad grant of discretion” in determining whether to strike an affidavit. *Id.* ¶ 25. A trial court does not abuse this discretion when it strikes an affidavit that is “largely conclusory in form,” or consists “entirely of inadmissible . . . evidence.” *Norton v. Blackham*, 669 P.2d 857, 859 (Utah 1983) (citations omitted). Also, affidavits should be disregarded when the party is “merely on a fishing expedition for purely speculative facts after substantial discovery has been conducted.” *Callioux v. Progressive Ins. Co.*, 745 P.2d 838, 841 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) (citations omitted).

#### **A. The Declaration Is Conclusory and Speculative.**

It is well established that affidavits that are “largely conclusory in form” are not “admissible in evidence and may not be considered on summary judgment under Rule 56(e).” *Norton v. Blackham*, 669 P.2d 857, 859 (Utah 1983). The Declaration here was conclusory and was properly rejected. In response to Fire Insurance’s Motion for

Summary Judgment, Oltmanns submitted the Declaration of Donald L. Dalton, Oltmanns' counsel. Throughout the Declaration, Mr. Dalton offered purely conclusory statements that were speculative at best. For example, Mr. Dalton stated in his affidavit that "It appears to have been based on *dictum* from the case." (R. at 682–84). These conclusory and speculative forms of statements appear throughout the Declaration. Mr. Dalton cannot be a witness for Oltmanns. Oltmanns, in bearing the burden of proof, did not identify any expert witness to opine about the coverage opinion.

Mr. Dalton was simply making bald statements in an attempt to manufacture an issue of fact. However, coverage counsel's thought process regarding his analysis of the "jet skis" issue was not the question before the court and was immaterial. This was not allowed. Utah law is clear that "bald statements do not suffice to establish a genuine issue of material fact. In responding to defendants' motion for summary judgment, [Oltmanns was] required to set forth specific facts showing that there [was] a genuine issue for trial." *Rawson v. Conover*, 2001 UT 24, ¶ 33, 20 P.3d 876 (citations omitted). In Utah, "a party puts the legitimacy of a fact, supported by affidavits . . . , in dispute by presenting equally meaningful, sworn testimony in the form of affidavits . . . ." *Johnson v. Hermes Associates, Ltd.*, 2005 UT 82, ¶ 21, 128 P.3d 1151. As the U.S. Supreme Court has noted, the purpose of the requirement in Rule 56(e) that an adverse party must set forth specific facts "is not to replace conclusory allegations of the complaint or answer with conclusory allegations of an affidavit." *Lujan v. Nat'l Wildlife Fed'n*, 497 U.S. 871, 888 (1990).

Thus, the Declaration is not “equally meaningful, sworn testimony” and was properly rejected.

**B. The Declaration Does Not Conform to Rule 56(f).**

The Declaration does not conform to Utah R. Civ. P. 56(f). Mr. Dalton set forth the Declaration as a means to further discovery by taking the deposition of coverage counsel. However, fact discovery ended and Mr. Dalton chose not to take the deposition of coverage counsel.

Rule 56(f) provides that, a party opposing summary judgment may submit an affidavit stating the reasons why he is presently unable to present evidentiary affidavits essential to support his opposition to summary judgment. *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 56(f); *see also Callioux v. Progressive Ins. Co.*, 745 P.2d 838, 840 (Utah Ct. App. 1987). A commentator has succinctly described the Rule 56(f) standard:

The mere averment of exclusive knowledge or control of the facts by the moving party is not adequate: the opposing party must show to the best of his ability what facts are within the movant's exclusive knowledge or control; what steps have been taken to obtain the desired information pursuant to discovery procedures under the Rules; and that he is desirous of taking advantage of these discovery procedures.

*Callioux*, 745 P.2d at 840 *quoting* 2 J. Moore, W. Taggart & J. Wicker, *Moore's Federal Practice* par. 56.24 (2d ed. 1987).

In *Cox v. Winters*, 678 P.2d 311, 312–14 (Utah 1984), the Utah Supreme Court delineated several factors to consider under Rule 56(f): (1) Were the reasons articulated in the Rule 56(f) affidavit “adequate” or is the party against whom summary judgment is sought merely on a “fishing expedition” for purely speculative facts after substantial

discovery has been conducted without producing any significant evidence? (2) Was there sufficient time since the inception of the lawsuit for the party against whom the summary judgment is sought to use discovery procedures, and thereby cross-examine the moving party? (3) If discovery procedures were timely initiated, was the non-moving party afforded an appropriate response? *Id.* at 312–14.

Although the courts recognize that this requirement should be applied liberally, the courts are also unwilling to “spare the litigants from their own lack of diligence.” *Callioux*, 745 P.2d 838, 841 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) (citations omitted). In *Callioux*, a case directly on point, the court was presented with the same situation that the party opposing summary judgment wanted to conduct further discovery and asked for a continuance pursuant to Rule 56(f). *Id.* at 840. In applying the forgoing legal principles, the court in *Callioux* denied the motion for continued discovery, concluding that the party opposing summary judgment was afforded ample time to conduct the discovery sought. *Id.* at 841.

Like the motion for continuance in *Callioux*, Oltmanns made “a conclusory claim of need for further discovery, but [the Declaration] was not accompanied by the required Rule 56(f) affidavit setting forth the reasons why [he] could not present facts essential to justify [his] opposition . . . .” *Id.* (internal citations omitted). The court of appeals further concluded that the “conclusory assertion that the scheduled depositions were “expected to produce matters essential to resolution of defendant's motion” smacks of a “fishing expedition” for purely speculative facts. *Id.* Likewise, Oltmanns’ Declaration for wanting to depose coverage counsel smacks as a fishing expedition. This was based upon the

purely speculative facts declared by Mr. Dalton in his Declaration. Furthermore, in *Callioux*, the court of appeals concluded the district court correctly denied the motion for continued discovery because the party opposing summary judgment had been afforded ample opportunity to discover and present evidence in opposition to Progressive's motion for summary judgment. *Id.* The same is true for Oltmanns. Oltmanns had ample time to discover and present evidence through depositions. In fact, Oltmanns was in possession of coverage opinion from the very beginning of fact discovery. Nothing in the Declaration showed that Oltmanns was conscientious about pursuing the deposition of coverage counsel. Rather, Oltmanns chose not to take *any* depositions in this matter to try to prove his case. This is clearly why Mr. Dalton failed to address in his Declaration what steps were taken to obtain the desired information pursuant to discovery procedures under the Rules in accordance with Rule 56(f). To declare that the deposition of coverage counsel was necessary was untimely, conclusory, and based upon purely speculative facts. Thus, the trial court properly rejected the Declaration and denied Oltmanns' request to depose coverage counsel.

### **CONCLUSION**

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